#### Case Nos. 80427 & 80831

#### In the Supreme Court of Nevada

In the Matter of the Petition of CLA Properties LLC.

SHAWN BIDSAL,

Appellant,

vs.

CLA PROPERTIES LLC,

Respondent.

CLA PROPERTIES LLC,

Appellant,

vs.

SHAWN BIDSAL,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Nov 24 2020 11:36 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eight Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada The Honorable JOANNA S. KISHNER, District Judge District Court Case No. A-19-795188-P

## APPELLANT SHAWN BIDSAL'S OPENING BRIEF

Daniel F. Polsenberg (SBN 2376)
Joel D. Henriod (SBN 8492)
Abraham G.Smith (SBN 13,250)
Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie Llp

## **JURISDICTION**

Shawn Bidsal appeals from the December 6, 2019 order granting a petition for the confirmation of an arbitration award and denying Bidsal's opposition and counterpetition to vacate the arbitrator's award. The award constitutes a final, appealable judgment under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRS 38.247(c).

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it involves the extent to which an arbitrator's award is insulated from judicial review when it imposes a specific-performance remedy that the parties expressly rejected and when the parties' arbitration agreement prohibits the arbitrator from entering such an award. The assumption among some of the district courts that such an award merits little or no review is an issue of statewide public importance (NRAP 17(a)(12)) that requires guidance from this Court.

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does an arbitrator manifestly disregard the law when he substitutes for the parties' written agreement a rough concept of "Dutch

auction," divorced both from the language of the contract and in disregard of the parties' express rejection of such a provision?

- 2. Considering the overwhelming evidence that Bidsal did not draft Section 4.2, was the arbitrator's determination that ambiguity must be construed against Bidsal as the drafter arbitrary and capricious?
- 3. Is an arbitrator's award insulated from review even when the parties' arbitration agreement expressly limits the kinds of damages awards the arbitrator can make, and the specific-performance award here exceeds the arbitrator's powers?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Bidsal appeals from a district court order confirming an arbitration award and entering judgment, the Honorable Joanna S. Kishner, District Judge of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, presiding. That judgment confirmed the Final Award entered by the Honorable Stephen E. Haberfeld, in arbitration proceedings.

This dispute arises from Bidsal's desire to buy out CLA, the other member of GVC, a real estate investment LLC that has two members: Bidsal and CLA. GVC's operating agreement contains a provision, Article V, Section 4, governing this scenario, where one member wishes to buy out the other. Negotiations over this provision lasted several months. During these negotiations, GVC's counsel drafted "Dutch Auction" language on numerous occasions, and each time Bidsal and CLA rejected that language. CLA then took control from GVC's counsel and drafted the buy-sell language that appears in GVC's final operating agreement. Bidsal reviewed CLA's draft language, but never revised it. In the final GVC operating agreement, Article V, Section 4 sets forth a procedure ensuring that an initial offer from one member to buy out the other results in **someone** buying the interest of the other, subject to an

appraisal procedure that protects members from having to sell their interests for an unfair price.

In 2017, after leveraging his experience and expertise to realize profits for the LLC over the course of several years, Bidsal offered to purchase CLA's interest in GVC for a price based on a \$5 million valuation. Having offered to buy CLA's interest, Bidsal understood that, pursuant to the operating agreement, CLA could either accept the offer, agree to sell at an appraisal-determined valuation, or counteroffer to purchase Bidsal's interest. Bidsal hoped to purchase CLA's interest and become sole owner of GVC, but took comfort from the operating agreement's appraisal procedure. This procedure ensured that, even if CLA counteroffered to buy Bidsal's interest, he could not be compelled to sell his interest without the benefit of the appraisal procedure.

CLA had other plans. After receiving the offer from Bidsal, CLA commissioned an appraisal in secret, without invoking the operating agreement's appraisal procedure. Upon learning GVC's property was worth more than originally thought, CLA demanded that Bidsal sell his interest to CLA at a price based on a \$5 million valuation. CLA insisted

the operating agreement required Bidsal to sell at that price, then demanded arbitration when Bidsal invoked the appraisal procedure.

The arbitrator concluded the disputed operating agreement provision was ambiguous and, finding that Bidsal was the principal drafter, construed the disputed provision against him. Relying on that finding and an extrinsic "rough justice" standard derived from typical Dutch Auction provisions, the arbitrator ordered specific performance of the purportedly ambiguous agreement—ordering Bidsal to sell his GVC interest to CLA at a price based on a \$5 million valuation. The district court confirmed the award and entered judgment.

Bidsal appeals.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Benjamin Golshani and Appellant Shawn Bidsal are cousins. (8 App. 1930:18-23.) Golshani is the sole manager and member of Respondent CLA Properties, LLC. (1 App. 9, ¶ 3.) CLA and Bidsal are the members of Green Valley Commerce, LLC ("GVC"). (*Id.*)

## A. The Joint Venture

By 2010, Bidsal had established himself in the real estate investment and management business and developed an infrastructure for purchasing, selling, and managing commercial real estate. (9 App. 2243:15-2244:16.) In 2010, Golshani, a real estate novice, approached Bidsal to discuss real estate business opportunities. (9 App. 2246:14-2247:8.)

Bidsal later agreed to partner with Golshani—through Golshani's LLC, CLA—to purchase real estate properties and mortgaged back deeds of trust and notes (the "Joint Venture"). (9 App. 2248:18-2249:11; 1 App. 9, ¶ 3.) CLA would invest seventy percent (70%) of the funds for the Joint Venture, but agreed that the profit from the venture would be split equally. (8 App. 1942:21-1944:12.) Bidsal would invest the remaining 30%, but also contribute valuable sweat equity by finding deals, subdividing properties to maximize value, and managing the properties. (9 App. 2006:13-2008:6.)

After agreeing to the Joint Venture, Bidsal located a commercial property at 3 Sunset Way, Henderson, Nevada 89014 (the "Green Valley Commerce Center"). (10 App. 2256:9-2257:3.) The loan against the Green Valley Commerce Center was in default, which presented an opportunity to obtain the loan and the underlying collateral at an exceptional value. (9 App. 2250:3-10 App. 2251:2.) However, these types of

deals require a great deal of work and experience to convert the note to fee simple title—experience that Bidsal had. (*Id.*)

On May 26, 2011, Bidsal formed Green Valley Commerce Center, LLC ("GVC"). (1 App. 219; 10 App. 2253, 356:13-357:15.) Shortly thereafter, GVC purchased the note secured by a deed of trust against the Green Valley Commerce Center. (10 App. 2253, 357:21-358:6.) Bidsal was ultimately successful in converting the note into a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure for the underlying property (10 App. 2255, 358:4-6, 10 App. 2260, 363:20-25) and, on September 22, 2011, GVC obtained title to the Green Valley Commerce Center. (1 App. 221-224.)

## B. The Draft GVC Operating Agreement

In June 2011, Bidsal and CLA contacted David LeGrand, an attorney, for assistance preparing a GVC operating agreement. (10 App. 2257, 360:9-361:8.) After discarding a template operating agreement originally provided by Jeff Chain, a business associate of Bidsal, LeGrand created his own proposed operating agreement for Bidsal and CLA to consider. (Compare 1 App. 226-250 with 2 App. 252-271.) The template operating agreement thereafter went numerous revisions.

On June 17 and June 27, 2011, LeGrand prepared revisions to the membership interest transfer provision reflecting his discussions with Bidsal. (2 App. 252-271; 2 App. 273-326). On July 22, 2011, LeGrand emailed another revision to Bidsal and CLA. (2 App. 382-411.) LeGrand advised that the revision added right of first refusal language, but that he was "unclear as to the discussion at the end of the meeting about buy sell." (2 App. 382.)

But LeGrand's initial drafts were rejected. On August 18, 2011, LeGrand emailed Bidsal and CLA a revision to the draft operating agreement "based on my conversation with Ben [Golshani] this morning." (2 App. 413.) LeGrand advised that, in this revision, he "added a 'Dutch Auction' provision." (*Id.*) Section 7.1 of the August 18, 2011, draft operating agreement provides:

#### Section 7.1 Purchase or Sell Procedure.

Any Member ("Offering Member") may give notice to the remaining Member(s) that he or it is ready, willing and able to sell his or its Member Interests for fair market value based upon the net fair market value of the Company's assets divided by the offering Member's proportionate interest in profits and losses of the Company. The Offering Member shall obtain an appraisal in writing from a qualified real estate appraiser and provide a copy of such appraisal to the other Member(s) attached to a notice setting forth the proposed offer to sell. The other Member(s) shall have ten (10) business days within which to respond in writing to the Offering Member by either (i) accepting the Offering Member's offer to sell; or, (ii) rejecting the offer to sell and counteroffering to sell his or its Member Interest to the Offering Member based upon the same appraisal and fair market value formula as set forth above. The specific intent of this provision is that the Offering Member shall be obligated to either sell his or its Member Interests to the remaining Member(s) or purchase the Member Interest of the remaining Member(s) based upon the fair market value of the Company's assets.

#### (2 App. 425.)

But LeGrand's August 2011 "Dutch Auction' provision" was rejected. On September 16, 2011, LeGrand emailed Bidsal and CLA another revision to the draft operating agreement that removed the "Dutch Auction" provision. (2 App. 472.) In the email, LeGrand wrote, "I do not know how to address the concept of the 'Dutch Auction' after much thought. We discussed that you want to be able to name a price and either get bought or buy at the offer price. I can write that provision, but I am not sure it makes sense because Ben [Golshani] has put in more than double the capital of Shawn [Bidsal]." (Id.)

LeGrand added, "Another approach would be to have an appraiser value your respective interests and capital and establish a price for both

of you. Then Ben could say to Shawn, 'Buy my units for XX\$ or I can buy your units for Y\$', all based on an independent appraisal?" (*Id.*)

On September 19, 2011, LeGrand emailed Bidsal and CLA, writing, "I got Ben's [Golshani] voice mail Saturday regarding Buy-sell and I talked with Shawn [Bidsal] about the issue that because your capital contributions are so different, you should consider a formula or other approach to valuing your interests. A simple 'Dutch Auction' where either of you can make an offer to the other and the other can elect to buy or sell at the offered price does not appear sensible to me." (3 App. 501.)

LeGrand added, "But you are the clients and I will write it up as you jointly instruct. I know Ben wants to get this finished." (*Id.*)

On the afternoon of September 20, 2011, LeGrand emailed Bidsal and CLA a revised draft operating agreement, writing, "Ben and Shawn- attached please find the revised OPAG with the new Article 5 Section 5 which sets forth the 'dutch Auction'." (3 App. 503.) Article 5, Section 5 of the September 20, 2011, draft operating agreement provides:

#### Section 5. Sales Between Members.

In the event that a Member desires to sell his Membership Interests to the other Members or purchase the Membership Interests of the other Members, the Offering Member shall give notice (for purposes of this Section 5.1, the "Notice") in writing to each of the other Members, stating his or its bona fide intention to transfer such Interest and the purchase price for which such Offering Member's Interest is proposed to be transferred. The purchase price expressed as a percentage of capital in the Company shall also be an offer to purchase the other Member's Interests on the same terms proportionate to the other Member's capital ownership.

(3 App. 515.)

#### 5.2

Upon receipt of the Notice, each of the other Members shall have the first right and option to agree to purchase all (subject to Article 5 hereof) of the Offering Member's Interest proposed to be transferred, at the price set forth in the Notice, exercisable for a period of fifteen (15) days form the date of receipt of the Notice. In the alternative, each of the other Member's shall have the right to sell their interests to the Offering Member on the terms set forth in the Notice and at the same price as set forth in the Notice proportionate to the other Member's capital ownership.

(Id.)

But LeGrand's September 2011 "dutch Auction" provision was also rejected. (3 App. 535.) On the morning of September 22, 2011, CLA emailed Bidsal a two-page draft of Section 7 ("Purchase or Sell Right

among Members."), with "ROUGH DRAFT" in large letters at the top of the page. (3 App. 535-37.) Golshani wrote, "Enclosed please find a rough draft *of what I came up with*. I tried to make it reciprocal. See if you like it. Comments are appreciated." (3 App. 535.) (Emphasis added.)

CLA's September 22, 2011, "ROUGH DRAFT" first modeled the structure and language of Section 4.2, completely departing from both the language and structure of LeGrand's drafts. For comparison, the table below shows CLA's "ROUGH DRAFT" (3 App. 536-37) side-by-side with Section 4.2 (3 App. 548-49).

#### "ROUGH DRAFT" (Sept. 22, 2011):

Any member ("Offering Member") may give notice to the Remaining Member(s) that he or it is ready, willing and able to sell his or its Member Interests for a price the Offering member thinks is the fair market value.

If the offered price is not acceptable to the Remaining member(s), Within 30 days of receiving the offer, the Remaining member can request to establish a fair market value based on the following procedure.

The Remaining member must provide the offering Member the complete information of 3 MIA appraisers within 30 days of receiving the offer. The Offering Member must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to all members. The Offering Member also must provide the Other Members with the complete

#### Final Operating Agreement:

Section 4.2 Purchase or Sell Procedure.

Any Member ("Offering Member") may give notice to the Remaining Member(s) that he or it is ready, willing and able to purchase the Remaining Members' Interests for a price the Offering Member thinks is the fair market value. The terms to be all cash and close escrow within 30 days of the acceptance.

If the offered price is not acceptable to the Remaining Member(s), within 30 days of receiving the offer, the Remaining Members (or any of them) can request to establish FMV based on the following procedure.

[space added]

The Remaining Member(s) must provide the Offering Member the complete information of 2 MIA appraisers. The Offering Member must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to all Members. The Offering Member also must provide the Remaining Members with information of 3 MIA approved appraisers. The Other Members must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to all members. The medium of these 2 appraisals constitute the fair market value of the property which is called (FMV).

The offering party may offer to sell his share Remaining Members based on the following formula.

(FMV- cost of purchase stated in the escrow closing statement) x interest percentage of Remaining member(s) + the amount of capital account of the Remaining Member(s).

The Remaining Member(s) shall have 30 days within which to respond in writing to the Offering Member by either:

- (i) accepting the Offering Member's offer to sell; or,
- (ii) rejecting the offer to sell and counter offering to sell his or its Member Interest to the Offering Member based upon the same fair market value (FMV) according to the following formula.

(FMV- cost of purchase stated in the escrow closing statement) x interest percentage of offering Member + capital account of the Offering Member.

The specific intent of this provision is that the Offering Member shall be obligated to either sell his or its Member Interests to the remaining Member(s) or purchase the Member Interest of the remaining Member(s) based upon the fair market value established above. the complete information of 2 MIA approved appraisers. The Remaining Members must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to all Members. The medium of these 2 appraisals constitute the fair market value of the property which is called (FMV).

The Offering Member has the option to offer to purchase the Remaining Member's share at FMV as determined by Section 4.2,, based on the following formula.

(FMV - COP) x 0.5 plus capital contribution of the Remaining Member(s) at the time of purchasing the property minus prorated liabilities.

The Remaining Member(s) shall have 30 days within which to respond in writing to the Offering Member by either

- (i) Accepting the Offering Member's purchase offer, or,
- (ii) Rejecting the purchase offer and making a counteroffer to purchase the interest of the Offering Member based upon the same fair market value (FMV) according to the following formula.

(FMV - COP) x 0.5 + capital contribution of the Offering Member(s) at the time of purchasing the property minus prorated liabilities.

The specific intent of this provision is that once the Offering Member presented his or its offer to the Remaining Members, then the Remaining Members shall either sell or buy at the same offered price (or FMV if appraisal is invoked) and according to the procedure set forth in Section 4.. In the case that the Remaining Member(s) decide to purchase, then Offering Member shall be obligated to sell his or its Member Interests to the remaining Member(s).

On October 26, 2011, CLA emailed Bidsal a revised draft Section 7 ("Purchase or Sell Right among Members."), with "ROUGH DRAFT 2" in large letters in the header. (3 App. 568-70.) Golshani wrote, "Shawn, here is the agreement we discussed. Please take a look to see if you like it." (3 App. 568.)

CLA's October 26, 2011, "ROUGH DRAFT 2" is nearly identical to Section 4.2. For comparison, CLA's "ROUGH DRAFT 2" (3 App. 569-70) appears below side-by-side with Section 4.2 (3 App. 548-49).

#### "ROUGH DRAFT 2" (Oct. 26, 2011)

Section 7.2 ("Purchase or Sell Procedure")

Any member ("Offering Member") may give notice to the Remaining Member(s) that he or it is ready, willing and able to purchase the Remaining Members' Interests for a price the Offering member thinks is the fair market value. The terms to be all cash and close escrow within 30 days of the acceptance.

If the offered price is not acceptable to the Remaining Member(s), Within 30 days of receiving the offer, the Remaining member can request to establish a fair market value (FMV) based on the following procedure. The Remaining Member(s) must provide the offering Member the complete information of 2 MIA appraisers. The Offering Member must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to all members. The Offering Member also must provide the Remaining Members with the complete information of 2 MIA approved appraisers. The Remaining Members must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to

#### Final Operating Agreement:

Section 4.2 Purchase or Sell Procedure.

Any Member ("Offering Member") may give notice to the Remaining Member(s) that he or it is ready, willing and able to purchase the Remaining Members' Interests for a price the Offering Member thinks is the fair market value. The terms to be all cash and close escrow within 30 days of the acceptance.

If the offered price is not acceptable to the Remaining Member(s), within 30 days of receiving the offer, the Remaining Members (or any of them) can request to establish FMV based on the following procedure. The Remaining Member(s) must provide the Offering Member the complete information of 2 MIA appraisers. The Offering Member must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to all Members. The Offering Member also must provide the Remaining Members with the complete information of 2 MIA approved appraisers. The Remaining Members must pick one of the appraisers to appraise the property and furnish a copy to

all members. The medium of these 2 appraisals constitute the fair market value of the property which is called (FMV). [space added]

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