IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \* \* \*

IN THE MATTER OF THE PETITION  
OF CLA PROPERTIES LLC.

Electronically Filed  
Case No. ~~80427~~ 2021 01:25 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

---

SHAWN BIDSAL, AN INDIVIDUAL,  
Appellant,

vs.

CLA PROPERTIES LLC, A CALIFORNIA  
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,  
Respondent.

---

CLA PROPERTIES LLC, A CALIFORNIA  
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,  
Appellant,

vs.

SHAWN BIDSAL, AN INDIVIDUAL,  
Respondent.

Case No. 80831

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  
CLARK COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA  
HONORABLE JOANNA S. KISHNER

\*\*\*\*\*

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL**

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

at the arbitration hearing, and prepared detailed, thorough written decisions. He did not give short shrift to anything, and he certainly did not lack the energy or desire to do his job.

It is difficult to determine exactly what Bidsal's claims are in this appeal, much less what grounds for vacatur he applies to each. It appears, however, that he raises four claims. He contends that Judge Haberfeld (1) relied on "rough justice" and his own view of the so-called Dutch auction provision, instead of the evidence; (2) improperly based the award on a finding that Bidsal was the principal drafter; (3) misinterpreted the Agreement; and (4) ordered specific performance in violation of the Agreement.

**A. Bidsal's arguments about "rough justice" and "Dutch auction" are meritless.**

Bidsal argues that the award was made on the basis of "rough justice," which the AOB repeats multiple times. He also argues that Judge Haberfeld based the award on Judge Haberfeld's "personal understanding of Dutch auction provisions." AOB 25.

The award actually stated that Judge Haberfeld evaluated what the parties had said they wanted before any meeting with LeGrand, and then told LeGrand, which

Judge Haberfeld characterized as a form of rough justice. 1 App. 11 ¶ 8. He never hinted that he was ruling for CLA to achieve rough justice, or that his own goal was to impose rough justice. Rather, he recognized that rough justice was a by-product of what the parties themselves and LeGrand had written into the Agreement for the buy/sell provision. *Id.*

In other words, Bidsal has it backwards. Judge Haberfeld at most ruled that rough justice was the impact the parties' Agreement achieved, not that he was attempting to impose some form of rough justice as a ground for his award. Bidsal's statement of what the award says (starting at AOB 38) and what it really says are not even close. First, Judge Haberfeld explained that the reason he used the terms "forced buy/sell" and "Dutch auction" was because those terms were what the parties and LeGrand used. 1 App. 9 ¶ 4. He observed that if such provisions work as intended, "the result might not be expertly authoritative or precise, but nevertheless form a cost-effective 'rough justice'" when one party invokes the provision. 1 App. 11 ¶ 8. He did not impose his view of "rough justice" on the parties. He merely observed that the parties themselves agreed to a provision that resulted in a form of rough justice.

Additionally, the name given to that kind of buy-sell provision is irrelevant. There is abundant evidence that LeGrand and the parties had used the term "Dutch

auction” six years before Judge Haberfeld ever saw the Agreement. It was LeGrand who characterized the buy-sell that the parties told him they wanted as “forced [or “mandatory”] buy/sell” no later than July 25, 2011 (2 App. 382), and a “Dutch auction” no later than August 18, 2011.<sup>7</sup> 2 App. 413.

Bidsal repeatedly complains about Judge Haberfeld’s alleged references to “typical” Dutch auction provisions. His brief asserts at least 15 times that Judge Haberfeld characterized the provision as “typical.” *E.g.*, AOB 23-24, 31, 37-43. The arbitration award, however, does not contain the word “typical,” and Judge Haberfeld never characterized the provision as such. Bidsal’s complaints are irrelevant and do not justify vacating the award under the FAA or Nevada law.

Bidsal also repeatedly criticizes Judge Haberfeld’s discussion of the Dutch auction provision as “unsourced.” *E.g.*, AOB 23, 38-39. Bidsal did not make his “unsourced” argument in the district court, and he does not explain what “unsourced” means in this context. If he means that Judge Haberfeld’s award did not adequately describe the sources of information he used, Bidsal cites no law requiring such a description, and no law holding that this is a ground for vacating an arbitration award.

---

<sup>7</sup>

Bidsal quarrels with whether the characterization as a Dutch auction reflected the parties’ understanding. AOB 39 n. 5. Whether the parties ever uttered the words “Dutch auction” is irrelevant. LeGrand’s e-mails using that term made clear that he was referring to a buy-sell provision that comported with what the parties told LeGrand they wanted.

If Bidsal means that there is no source of evidence for Judge Haberfeld's discussion in Paragraph 8 of the award, this still does not provide a ground for vacating the award. Paragraph 8 merely provided Judge Haberfeld's general understanding of Dutch auction provisions. His actual award, however, was based upon a careful analysis and interpretation of language in the actual provision to which the parties agreed in this case, together with his analysis of the evidence presented at the arbitration.

Bidsal attacks Judge Haberfeld for not using a "Dutch auction" definition consistent with Black's Law Dictionary. AOB 40 n. 8. He makes no showing that he raised the argument in the district court. In any event, this is simply not a ground for vacating the award.<sup>8</sup>

**B. Judge Haberfeld's discussion of rough justice and Dutch auctions is not a manifest disregard of law.**

Bidsal argues different grounds for vacating the award. AOB 23. The one on which he primarily relies with regard to his "Dutch Auction-rough justice" issue is 8/

In attacking Judge Haberfeld's alleged "unsourced" discussion of the provision, Bidsal desperately charges that Judge Haberfeld "may have also engendered a bias against Bidsal." AOB 40 n. 6. Bidsal never asserted this in the district court as a ground for vacating the award (so far as CLA can find). Further, attacking an arbitrator for an appearance of bias would tend to "disqualify the best informed and most capable potential arbitrators." *Int'l Produce, Inc. v. A/S Rosshavet*, 638 F.2d 548, 552 (2d Cir.1981).

the common law ground that Judge Haberfeld manifestly disregarded the law. *Id.* But what he actually argues is that “the arbitrator manifestly disregarded the plain language of Section 4.2.” AOB 38. But that is not manifest disregard of the law.

To establish manifest disregard of the law, Bidsal must prove that Judge Haberfeld, knowing the law and recognizing that the law required a particular result, simply disregarded the law. *Clark Cty. Educ. Ass’n*, 122 Nev. at 342, 131 P.3d at 8. Bidsal has identified nothing to suggest Judge Haberfeld recognized the law but simply disregarded it. Also, a court is not permitted “to consider the arbitrator’s interpretation of the law.” *Id.* Yet that is essentially all that Bidsal has claimed. Judge Haberfeld’s reference to “rough justice” was not an acknowledgment of law followed by a decision not to follow that law. Without that, there can be no manifest disregard of the law.

And even if what Judge Haberfeld said is interpreted as a reference to his experience, that is still not a basis for vacating the award. In *STMicroelectronics, N.V. v. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC*, 648 F.3d 68, 77 (2d Cir. 2011), the court upheld confirmation of an arbitration award. The appellant argued that the arbitrators failed to disclose information showing a predisposition in favor of the other party. The court rejected this as a ground for vacating the award under the FAA. The court held that a judge’s lack of predisposition regarding the relevant legal issues in a case

“has never been thought a necessary component of equal justice,” because “it is virtually impossible to find a judge who does not have preconceptions about the law.”

*Id.* “This is all the more true for arbitrators,” because the most sought-after arbitrators “are those who are prominent and experienced members of the specific business community in which the dispute to be arbitrated arose.” *Id.*

The fact that Judge Haberfeld was familiar with the process that Le Grand called a forced buy-sell and Dutch auction is not a basis for claiming that Judge Haberfeld manifestly disregarded the law, much less met the standard for “manifestly disregarding the law.” Nor is manifest disregard of the law established by Judge Haberfeld’s observation that the parties agreed to a provision which may have had an impact of rough justice. Judge Haberfeld did not impose his own brand of rough justice. He merely observed that this was the result of what the parties put into their Agreement.

**C. Judge Haberfeld’s interpretation of the Agreement was correct.**

Even if Judge Haberfeld’s interpretation of the Agreement was incorrect – which it was not – this still does not constitute a ground for vacating the award. As discussed above, “arbitrators do not exceed their powers if their interpretation of an agreement, **even if erroneous**, is rationally grounded in the agreement.” *Health Plan of Nev.*, 120 Nev. at 698, 100 P.3d at 178 (emphasis added). “The question is whether

the arbitrator had the authority under the agreement to decide an issue, **not whether the issue was correctly decided.**” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Understanding of what the award says requires understanding of many of Bidsal’s contentions in the arbitration, which Judge Haberfeld addressed, because Bidsal’s arguments in the AOB are not what he contended in arbitration. Thus, the award did not address those contentions.

**D. Section 4.2 entitles the Remaining Member to purchase the Offering Member’s interest, using the offering price as the FMV.**

After an offer from the Offering Member, in which the Offering Member states his contention regarding FMV, Section 4.2 sets out the Remaining Member’s options:

The Remaining Member(s) shall have 30 days within which to respond in writing to the Offering Member by either

- (i) Accepting the Offering Member’s purchase offer, or,
- (ii) Rejecting the purchase offer and making a counteroffer to purchase the interest of the Offering Member **based upon the same fair market value (FMV)**

1 App. 39 (emphasis added).

Those two options were consistent with what the parties had discussed from the beginning, and what they told LeGrand they wanted. Section 4.2 concludes with the specific intent provision:

The specific intent of this provision is that once the Offering Member presented his or its offer to the Remaining Members, then the Remaining Members shall either **sell or buy at the same offered price** (or FMV if appraisal is invoked) and according to the procedure set forth in Section 4. In the case that the Remaining Member(s) decide to purchase, then Offering Member shall be obligated to sell his or its Member Interests to the remaining Member(s).

1 App. 39 (emphasis added).

Based on what the Agreement said, along with evidence of what had been discussed and written from May through December, 2011, Judge Haberfeld determined that CLA was entitled to purchase Bidsal's interest using Bidsal's offered price as the FMV.

FMV was one of the elements in the buy-out formula, as discussed above. In the arbitration, Bidsal made the following contentions about how FMV would be determined.

- When the Offering Member sends a notice with the amount “he thinks is the fair market value” that is merely the “offered price,” but the offered price is not the FMV. *E.g.*, 7 App. 1502:4-18.

- If the offer is accepted or deemed accepted by silence, then the offered price will be used to determine the Buyout Amount. 7 App. 1502-04.

- The fair market value can be obtained solely by appraisal. *E.g.*, “[T]he term ‘FMV’ . . . means ‘[t]he medium of these 2 appraisals [being the appraisal described . . . in Section 4.2].’” 7 App. 1505:12-13.

- “If the remaining member decides to communicate a counteroffer, the appraisal process is not optional . . . it is mandatory.” 10 App. 2463:17-18.

- “[A]ny time the defined term FMV is used, it is referencing the last sentence of [identified portion] of Section 4.1, which states: “[t]he medium of these 2 appraisals constitutes the fair market value of the property **which is called (FMV).**” 10 App. 2393:1-4 (emphasis in Bidsal’s original).

- “If CLAP had accepted Bidsal’s initial purchase offer there would be no need to define a value for ‘FMV.’” 10 App, 2473:24-2474:13.

Thus, Bidsal’s argument was that the offered price was never the FMV, and appraisal was the sole method to determine FMV. The upshot of that was there was

no FMV if the Remaining Member accepted the offer (or did nothing). But the buyout formula required FMV, along with other elements of the formula. This fact made Bidsal's contention impossible to apply if the Remaining Member accepted the offer. Bidsal could not claim that the offered price could be then used in the formula, because he claimed that it was never the FMV.

That explains why Judge Haberfeld determined that Bidsal's arguments and testimony were "outcome determinative," and Bidsal's position "cannot be logically applied in all instances," especially in instances in which CLA either accepted Bidsal's offer or failed to respond. 1 App. 12 ¶ 10.B. Judge Haberfeld emphasized this determination a second time in the award. 1 App. 15-16 ¶ 18. In ¶ 18.B, Judge Haberfeld addresses a second independent reason why Bidsal's contention made no sense. 1 App. 12. The final paragraph of Section 4.2 (the specific intent provision) in part provides,

The specific intent of this provision is that once the Offering Member presented his or its offer to the Remaining Members, then the Remaining Members shall either sell or buy **at the same offered price (or FMV if appraisal is invoked).**

1 App. 39 (emphasis added).

Bidsal acknowledged (and acknowledges) that only the Remaining Member can “invoke” appraisal. 9 App.2155:18-22; AOB 33, 43. Yet he argued that CLA could not “buy at the same offered price.” He argued that the parenthetical phrase meant that there had to be an appraisal. But that made no sense, because the parenthetical phrase is stated as an alternative to offered price, using the word “or.” Bidsal had no answer for that problem. He offered no meaning for the word “if” in the phrase “if appraisal is invoked,” as he contended, appraisal was always required for the Remaining Member to buy. That left the only meaning possible for the phrase: **if the Remaining Member does not** invoke appraisal, then the offered price must be used.

Finally, Bidsal has contended that the “same offered price” in the specific intent provision applies if the Remaining Member sells, but not where he buys. That likewise made no sense. The only way to interpret the provision is to attach the phrase “at the same offered price” to the word “buy,” which it follows, meaning the same offered price as when the Remaining Member accepts the offer and sells. The phrase could not apply when the Remaining Member sells. There would be nothing to which it would be the “same.”

Thus, in ¶ 18.B, Judge Haberfeld added reference to this specific intent provision and noted that the Buyout Amount could not be computed without using

the \$5,000,000 in the offer (the offered price) as the FMV. 1 App. 16 ¶ 18.B. Judge Haberfeld properly concluded that the offered price was the FMV unless appraisal was invoked, and here, it had not been invoked.

Recognizing that his position made no sense, Bidsal has now abandoned his contentions in arbitration, changing to a new theory on appeal. He essentially argues that the offered price **can** be the FMV, and appraisal is **not** required to set the FMV, but the **Offering Member** can request appraisal as though he were the Remaining Member, if the true Remaining Member counteroffers. AOB 32-33.

Nowhere in the hundreds of pages of Bidsal's briefs in the arbitration did he argue that the parties not only switched positions, but also hats, as he now argues on appeal. As such, the new argument should not be considered. Bidsal is not entitled to argue points never presented to the arbitrator. *See Washoe County v. Seegmiller*, 2020 WL 7663451 n .1 (Nev.; December 23, 2020; No. 78837; unpublished) (affirming arbitration award and holding that supreme court will not consider issue that was not raised before the arbitrator); *see also Gateway Techs, Inc. v. MCI Telecommunications Corp.*, 64 F.3d 993, 998 (5th Cir. 1995) (a party "cannot stand by during arbitration, withholding certain arguments, then, upon losing the arbitration, raise such arguments in federal court"); *United Steelworkers of Am., AFL-CIO-CLC v. Smoke-Craft, Inc.*, 652 F.2d 1356, 1360 (9th Cir. 1981) (parties to

arbitration “cannot sit idle while an arbitration decision is rendered and then, if the decision is adverse, seek to attack the award collaterally on grounds not raised before the arbitrator”).

Bidsal takes issue with Judge Haberfeld’s conclusion that the specific intent provision prevails over earlier ambiguities about the parties’s rights and obligations.

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